UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

____________________________________

Kevin M. Thompson,



)
Civil Docket No. 06-11805-DPW






)




Plaintiff

)







)

vs.





)







)







)
VERIFIED COMPLAINT

Mary M. Manzi and Peter C. Digangi,
)
(Jury Trial Requested)

individually and in their capacity as Justices
)

of the Probate and Family Court of Essex
)

County; Andre A. Gelinas, Elspeth B.
)

Cypher, and Joseph A. Trainor; individually )


and in their capacity as Justices of the
)

Massachusetts Appeals Court


)







)


Defendants

)

____________________________________)

JURISDICTIONAL BASIS

I. 
Plaintiff claims federal jurisdiction pursuant to Article III § 2, which extends the jurisdiction to cases arising under the U.S. Constitution.

II.
Plaintiff brings this suit pursuant to Title 42 U.S. Code § 1983 for violations of certain fundamental protections guaranteed to him by the First, Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, Thirteenth, and Fourteenth Amendments of the Federal Constitution, by the Defendants under the color of law in their capacities as judges in the state of Massachusetts.

III.
Plaintiff also brings this suit pursuant to Title 28 U.S. Code § 1343, which gives the district court original jurisdiction of any civil action authorized by any person to redress the deprivation, under color of State law, of any right secured by the Constitution of the United States and to recover damages or other relief for such civil rights violations.

PARTIES

IV.
Plaintiff, Kevin Thompson, is a natural citizen residing at 20 Washington St. #1, 

Methuen, Massachusetts (Essex County).

V.
Defendant, Mary McCauley Manzi, is a Judge presiding at Essex Probate and Family Court, 2 Appleton Street, Lawrence, Massachusetts 01840.


Defendant, Peter C. Digangi, is a Judge presiding at Essex Probate and Family Court, 36 Federal Street, Salem, Massachusetts 01970.

Defendant, Andre A. Gelinas, is a Judge presiding at the Massachusetts Appeals Court, John Adams Courthouse, One Pemberton Square, Boston, MA 02108.

Defendant, Elspeth B. Cypher, is a Judge presiding at the Massachusetts Appeals Court, John Adams Courthouse, One Pemberton Square, Boston, MA 02108.

Defendant, Joseph A. Trainor, is a Judge presiding at the Massachusetts Appeals Court, John Adams Courthouse, One Pemberton Square, Boston, MA 02108.

STATEMENT OF CASE

1.
This is not a domestic relations action. It is about fraud, collusion, cover-up, and 
violations of federally-protected constitutional rights perpetrated by the 
Defendants.

2.
The Plaintiff has exhausted all of his legal options within the state of Massachusetts taking his case all the way to the state's Supreme Judicial Court, where his Application for Further Appellate Review was denied.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF--

VIOLATIONS OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 18 U.S.C. § 242 and 28 U.S.C. §1343
3.
On February 25, 2004, within minutes of meeting the Plaintiff for the first time, at a hearing held to simply modify the child support order, Judge Peter C. Digangi expressed his gender-biased opinion that fathers are lesser parents than mothers with no chance of gaining 50/50 joint physical custody in his courtroom.  His verbatim comment was, "Can we look at this case, getting the issue of joint physical custody off the table because, quite frankly, sir, no judge is probably going to entertain that or they'll hear your argument but I don't think you're going to get very far with it."  He added, "a young child needs to be with the nurturance of his mother if there is going to be a schism between parents."  He further claimed, "with the pleadings in this case (of which he had no knowledge), I doubt that I would even allow it even if you both came to me and said I want joint physical custody."  

4.
Many more "transcribed" violations of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment are contained in the Plaintiff's appeals court documents.

5.
When the Plaintiff proved at this "child support modification" hearing that Kathleen Moran (hereinafter "the Mother") had lied on her financial statements, Judge Digangi ignored this crime and responded with the "off topic" comment:

If she's cheated on her taxes, if she's overstated the cost of her daycare... that really doesn't get into the idea as to who's the best parent for the child.
6.
On June 4, 2004, after a one-day trial that denied the Plaintiff his due process rights to be heard, to present evidence favorable to his case, and to confront witnesses against him; Judge Digangi rewarded the Mother with sole legal and physical custody for lying under oath, committing perjury in legal documents, fabricating false allegations, and disclosing her evidence exactly one week prior to the trial, four months after discovery was ordered to be complete.  

7.
The Plaintiff contends that "legal" custody was taken from him because he would not let Judge Digangi bully him into giving up his parental rights voluntarily.

8.
To prevent the Plaintiff from discrediting the Mother and proving that he IS the fitter parent, Judge Digangi precluded the Plaintiff from presenting every one of the 55 exhibits that he had pre-marked for the trial.  

9.
Judge Digangi accomplished this by repeatedly sustaining the Mother's merit-less objections and only allowing the Plaintiff to argue his case on the stand as his own witness without access to his notes and exhibits.  

10.
When the Plaintiff objected to this due process violation and pointed out that the Mother's attorney did not face such a restriction, Judge Digangi responded, "you're acting as your own counsel, you put yourself in this predicament."  

11.
When the Plaintiff attempted to address the lies contained in a DSS report, which would have rendered the report worthless before an honorable court, Judge Digangi preserved the credibility of this exhibit by directing the Plaintiff to "move on" with the claim:  

The purpose of the investigation by this witness was not to investigate you, sir, in any way.  Bear that in mind.

12.
Judge Digangi and a three-judge panel of the appeals court did not "bear that in mind" since they both referenced this report, made up entirely of inadmissible second and third hand perjury, to justify their rulings.  

13.
The Plaintiff was not able to confront "witnesses against him" because the three individuals who were quoted by the DSS investigator while on the stand were not in the courtroom.  

14.
The Plaintiff did not have the opportunity to subpoena the "witnesses against him" because, as stated earlier, the Mother did not submit her evidence or her witness list until a week before the trial.

15.
The Plaintiff contends that the actions taken by Judge Digangi at the contested child custody trial were malicious, deliberate, and retaliatory against the Plaintiff for reporting one of his colleagues, Judge Mary McCauley Manzi, to the Commission on Judicial Conduct.

16.
To cover up his misconduct at the appeals court level, Judge Digangi lied about the Plaintiff, fabricated evidence to discredit the Plaintiff, and plagiarized most of the Mother's findings as his own to produce his "findings of fact" for the appeal of the case.  

17.
Judge Digangi's involvement in the Plaintiff's legal matters did not end with the denial of the Plaintiff's appeal.  His part in the illegal "ban" of the Plaintiff's book will be described in detail under the Plaintiff's third claim for relief.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF--

VIOLATIONS OF 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1988, 18 U.S.C. §§ 241, 242, and 

28 U.S.C. §1343
18.
A three-judge panel of the appeals court ignored the Plaintiff's legal arguments and the clear and convincing evidence contained in the Plaintiff's briefs to fraudulently call his appeal "frivolous with no basis in law or fact" to extort from the Plaintiff double the mother's attorney fees and costs.

19.
In effect, the Plaintiff was fined $8,606.72 for reporting judicial misconduct, for incorrectly assuming that Constitutional Law applied to fathers in family court, and for incorrectly assuming that the appeals court would verify the "contested" findings with the court-recorded tapes and transcripts before ruling on the Plaintiff's appeal.

20.
The appeals court's wildly baseless "order" to pay the fees of an attorney who the Plaintiff did not hire is extortion and a violation of the Eighth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States, which forbids "excessive fines" from being imposed.

21.
The Plaintiff contends that his Brief, his Reply Brief, his Petition for Rehearing, his Application for Further Appellate Review, and the court-recorded tapes and transcripts are all the evidence needed to convince an honorable court that the three-judge panel of the appeals court conspired among themselves and with Judge Digangi to retaliate against the Plaintiff for reporting judicial misconduct.

22.
The retaliation included the appeals court denial of the Plaintiff's right to be heard.  Although Rule 22 of the Massachusetts Rules of Appellate Procedure gives the appeals court the discretion to deny oral argument, that discretion should not have applied to a case that brought into question the judge's conduct and violations of the Plaintiff's constitutional rights.

23.
Several attorneys, who requested anonymity for fear of reprisals, have examined the Plaintiff's appeal as contained in his book, "Exposing the Corruption in the Massachusetts Family Courts," and advised the Plaintiff to challenge the appeals court ruling in Federal Court, outside the collusion and corruption of the Massachusetts court system.

24.
Nothing in the Plaintiff's book has generated more outrage than the claim expressed by the three-judge panel of the Massachusetts appeals court (Judges Gelinas, Cypher, and Trainor) that the Plaintiff's appeal was "frivolous with no basis in law or fact."

25.
The Plaintiff contends that there was nothing "frivolous" about his request to have his case heard before an honorable court, which would respect his constitutional rights to be heard, to confront witnesses against him, and to present evidence that was favorable to his case - rights that are afforded to common criminals in this country, but denied to fathers in Massachusetts in defiance of its own constitution (See Massachusetts Constitution, Part 1, Article XII). 

26.
To conceal the crimes that the appeals court committed against the Plaintiff, the case was "secretly" (ie. without notification to the parties) impounded at the appeals court level.

27.
The Plaintiff's Petition for Rehearing to the same three-judge panel of the appeals court and his Application for Further Appellate Review to the full Supreme Judicial Court were denied without explanation in defiance of the fact that the Plaintiff addressed every bogus "fact" and flawed argument contained in the appeals court "Memorandum and Order."

28.
The decision to conspire among themselves to cover up Judge Digangi's crimes and misconduct is a frightening betrayal of public trust and the laws of the land that these justices have sworn to uphold.  

29.
Consequently, it is an act of treason against the country and actionable under Title 42, U.S. Code § 1983 (violations of protections guaranteed by the federal constitution); Title 18, U.S. Code § 241 (conspiracy against rights); and Title 18, U.S. Code § 242 (deprivation of rights under color of law).

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF--

VIOLATIONS OF 42 U.S.C, § 1983, 18 U.S.C. 242, and 28 U.S.C. §1343

30.
On February 6, 2006, the Plaintiff published a book titled, "Exposing the Corruption in the Massachusetts Family Courts."

31.
On March 2, 2006, the Mother filed ex parte motions to impound content from the Plaintiff's book and restrain the Plaintiff from disseminating it.  Judge Peter C. Digangi issued a temporary restraining order on this date.

32.
On March 10, 2006, the Mother's motions were brought before Judge Digangi.  After informing both parties that he did not have the jurisdiction to rule on the matter, Judge Digangi defied this statement by extending his temporary restraining order until March 22, 2006.

33.
On March 22, 2006, the Mother's motions were brought before Judge Manzi, who ignored her clear conflict of interest as a judge criticized by the Plaintiff in his book and the fact that opposing counsel never served a summons and complaint on the Plaintiff as mandated by Massachusetts Civil Procedure Rules 3 and 4, to issue orders that impound content from the book until the year 2021 and permanently restrain the Plaintiff from disseminating it.

34.
Without any references to law or the book's content, Judge Manzi's rationale for her restraining order was that the information contained in the Plaintiff's book would cause "irreparable injury" to the Mother and the minor child.

35.
Without any references to law or the book's content, Judge Manzi's rationale for her impoundment order was that "impoundment is necessary to protect the best interests including the privacy interests of the parties' minor child."  

36.
Judge Manzi could not reference the law because the law requires detailed written findings and a compelling reason to justify any restraints on free speech.  

37.
Judge Manzi could not reference the book's content because the Mother, as the moving party, did not submit the book itself into evidence for Judge Manzi to review.

38.
Judge Manzi wrote further in her order that, "no harm will be caused to the community interest by impounding this file."

39.
The Plaintiff contends that no community interest is harmed other than the community's right to scrutinize the judiciary, hold it accountable, and prevent from happening the crimes committed against fathers and children every day in family court behind closed doors.

40.
When documents concern a public official's conduct in office, they may be impounded ONLY on a showing of "overriding necessity" based on specific findings. George W. Prescott Pub. Co. v. Register of Probate for Norfolk County, 395 Mass. 274, 279, 282 (1985).
41.
In Care and Protection of Edith, 421 Mass. 703 (1996), the Supreme Judicial Court vacated an order that restrained the parties from discussing ongoing proceedings with members of the media, finding it was an unconstitutional restraint on the right of the father to comment on judicial proceedings and on the conduct of the Department of Social Services.

42.
Citing Nebraska Press Ass'n v. Stuart, 427 U.S. 539 (1976), the court held that any attempt to restrain speech must be justified by a compelling state interest to protect a serious threat of harm.  Any order seeking to enjoin speech must be based on detailed findings of fact that (a) identify the compelling interest that the restraint will serve and (b) demonstrate that no reasonable, less restrictive alternative to the order is available.

43.
The gagging of publication has been considered acceptable only where the evil that would result from the reportage is both great and certain and cannot be mitigated by less intrusive measures.  CBS, Inc. v. Davis, 510 U.S. 1315, 1317 (Blackmun, Circuit Justice 1994).
44.
The U.S. Supreme Court has warned that "any system of prior restraints on expression comes to this court bearing a heavy presumption against its constitutional validity" and the state "carries a heavy burden of showing justification for the imposition of such a restraint."  New York Times Co. v. United States, 403 U.S. 713, 714 (1971) (per curiam).

45.
Only the most compelling showing can justify post-trial restriction on disclosure of testimony or documents actually introduced at a trial.  Poliquin v. Garden Way, Inc. 989 F. 2d 527, 533 (1st Cir. 1993).

46.
The impoundment and restraining orders were issued without required written findings, just cause, or proper service of process by the Mother, illegally denying the Plaintiff his First Amendment right to free speech.
47.
If a judge does not fully comply with the Constitution, then her orders are void and she is without jurisdiction, and engaged in acts of treason to the Constitution.


U.S. v. Will, 449 U.S. 200, 216, 101 S.Ct. 471, 66 L.Ed.2d 392, 406 (1980).
48.
On April 19, 2006, Judge Manzi refused to hear the Plaintiff's Motion for Relief from the Orders with the claim that Mass. Civil Procedure Rule 60, the rule cited by the Plaintiff to bring his motion to the court, applied to judgments but not orders.  When the Plaintiff challenged her claim, Judge Manzi would not allow the Plaintiff to confirm that Rule 60 does in fact apply to both judgments AND orders.

49.
Evidence also exists which confirms that Judge Manzi solicited the help of a law clerk to provide her with some additional "loophole" excuses to avoid hearing the Plaintiff's motion before a number of "protesters" and media people in the courtroom on that particular day.

50.
The case should have been closed in the lower court with Judge Manzi's denial of the Plaintiff's motion for relief from her orders.  Instead, she inexplicably scheduled a pretrial conference on the matter and then cancelled the pretrial four days later without notifying the parties.

51.
The Plaintiff contends that Judge Manzi scheduled a pretrial conference to keep the case "live" in the lower court and prolong the illegal restraint on his speech.

52.
The Plaintiff further contends that Judge Manzi scheduled a pretrial conference and deferred, but did not deny, the Mother's request for attorney fees to manufacture billable litigation that she intended to extort from the Plaintiff at the conclusion of the case.

53.
Judge Manzi's failure to notify the parties that she had cancelled the pretrial conference generated unnecessary litigation and sabotaged the Plaintiff's original appeals court motion filed by the ACLU to "stay" the injunction and order of impoundment.

54.
In June of 2006, Judge Digangi convinced First Justice Mary Anne Sahagian to transfer the "book ban" case from Judge Manzi to him.  Witnesses can confirm that the Plaintiff's file was in Judge Digangi's possession two weeks before the case was reassigned to him. 

55.
The Plaintiff contends that Judge Digangi took the case from Judge Manzi to retaliate against the Plaintiff for exposing Judge Digangi as a fraud and a criminal in his book.

56.
On June 29, 2006, a day after the reassignment, Judge Digangi rescheduled a pretrial conference on the matter for October 10, 2006 - more than seven months after he originally banned the Plaintiff's book at the March 2, 2006 ex parte hearing.

57.
Judge Digangi's postponement of the matter is a criminal defiance of the Plaintiff's constitutional rights.  There is particular urgency where prior restraints of speech are concerned because "any First Amendment infringement that occurs with each passing day is irreparable..." Nebraska Press II, 423 U.S. at 1328.

58.
The Plaintiff's written request to First Justice Sahagian to explain this reassignment has been ignored.

59.
On August 30, 2006, the Plaintiff's third motion for Judge Manzi to recuse herself from the Plaintiff's child custody case was denied with the claim that "the Court (Judge Manzi) finds no reasonable basis to allow the motion."

60.
The Plaintiff contends that a competent and honorable Court could not possibly deny this motion.

61.
The Plaintiff cited, among other things, this pending federal court lawsuit; two formal complaints to the Commission on Judicial Conduct; the Plaintiff's public criticism of Judge Manzi in his book, in newspapers, and on television; the proof that the Mother has enjoyed wildly favored treatment in her courtroom; and Canon 3 of the Code of Judicial Conduct (Supreme Judicial Court Rule 3:09) which states that "a judge should disqualify herself in a proceeding in which her impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances where she has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party.

FINAL COMMENTS

62.
Judicial immunity does not apply in this case.  Immunity is lost when judges are found guilty of defying the laws of the land that they have sworn to uphold.

63.
Under all three claims for relief, the Defendants acted willfully, knowingly, wantonly, under color of state law, under color of fraud, and beyond the scope of their authority and jurisdiction to deprive the Plaintiff of his Constitutional rights secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, 18 U.S.C. § 242 and 28 U.S.C. §1343. 

64.
The Defendants have conspired among themselves to do so (taking numerous overt steps) and failed to prevent one another from doing so, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 18 U.S.C. § 241.

65.
When any court violates the clean and unambiguous language of the Constitution, a fraud is perpetrated and no one is bound to obey.  Watson v. Memphis, 375 US 526; 10 L Ed 529; 83 S.Ct. 1314.
66.
The Defendants acted in concert to abridge the Plaintiff's state and federal rights to enjoy equal parenting time with his son by instituting an unlawful and unconstitutional campaign of interference with his due process rights. 

67.
The Defendants have attempted to cover up their judicial misconduct with crimes as egregious as falsifying documents and tampering with case files and court-recorded tapes.

68.
The Plaintiff has been subjected to discrimination as a male, as a pro se litigant, and as a vocal fathers' rights activist in the state of Massachusetts.

69.
The Defendants have deprived the Plaintiff of rights, remedies, privileges, and immunities guaranteed to every citizen of the State of Massachusetts, in violation of the Massachusetts Constitution with respect to individual rights.  In effect and wholly without merit, the Plaintiff has been made a "second-class citizen" in his own child's life.
70.
Because of the Defendants' egregious and negligent conduct, the Plaintiff has repeatedly made attempts to enforce his parental rights.  He has filed numerous motions only to have them ignored and not litigated. He has incurred excessive costs and lost income.  This irreparable injury includes loss of parenting time with his child that can never be recovered.

71.
The conduct of the Defendants has been outrageous, wrongful, intolerable, cruel and contrary to the Constitutions of the United States and the Massachusetts Constitution.  The Defendants actions expose a reckless and negligent disregard of the law and the Plaintiff's fundamentally-secured rights.

72.
A right to a jury trial was enacted to eliminate the tyranny of giving one judge the power to decide an individual's fate.  This tyranny is alive and well in the unaccountable family courts of Massachusetts where the Seventh Amendment does not apply.  

73.
The self-serving statute that forbids jury trials in this state's family courts clashes itself with the Fourteenth Amendment, which prohibits states from making laws that abridge privileges and protections guaranteed under the Federal Constitution.

74.
The Supremacy Clause (Article VI, Section 2) of the United States Constitution states that the Constitution and other federal laws are the "Supreme Law of the Land" and that when there is a conflict between a state law and federal law, the federal law "trumps" the state law.

75.
The crimes that the Plaintiff has witnessed have left him with zero faith in the integrity and impartiality of the Massachusetts court system, which the Plaintiff contends is a system of organized crime.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF


WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff prays this Court issue equitable relief as follows:

1.
Declare that Judge Digangi's actions at the June 4, 2004, one-day trial denied the Plaintiff his due process rights to be heard, to confront witnesses against him, and to present evidence favorable to his case.

2.
Remedy Judge Digangi's due process violations by ordering a new trial before an impartial and honorable judge and/or jury beyond the scope and influence of any judge in this case (which would appear to have to be a federal judge).

3.
Declare that the Defendants (Judges Gelinas, Cypher, and Trainor) committed fraud when they called the Plaintiff's appeal "frivolous" and "with no basis in law or fact."

4.
Remedy the fraud by overturning the appeals court order for the Plaintiff to pay double the Mother's attorney fees and costs.

5.
Vacate Judge Manzi's orders, which impound content from the Plaintiff's book and restrain the Plaintiff from disseminating his book until the year 2021.

6.
Declare the self-serving statute that prohibits the right to a jury trial in the family courts of Massachusetts unconstitutional.

7.
Recommend impeachment proceedings against Judges Manzi, Digangi, Gelinas, Trainor, and Cypher in a letter to the Massachusetts Senate for their criminal betrayals of public trust and the laws of the land that they have sworn to uphold.

8.
Award Plaintiff his costs of litigation and punitive damages for emotional harm, loss of work, and damages done to his child as a result of this deliberate abuse in the amount of $5,000,000 to be paid equally by Judge Manzi, Judge Digangi, Judge Gelinas, Judge Trainor, and Judge Cypher individually, not by the State.

9.
Order any other relief that this court deems just.









Respectfully submitted,

Date:_____________





________________________









Kevin M. Thompson









20 Washington Street #1









Methuen, MA 01844









(978) 691-1191

Statement of Verification

I have read the above complaint and it is correct to the best of my knowledge.








________________________








Kevin M. Thompson

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Kevin Thompson, hereby certify that a true copy of the above complaint was served upon the following Defendants and the Massachusetts Attorney General at the listed addresses by certified mail. 

(1)
Judge Mary M. Manzi, 2 Appleton Street, Lawrence, Massachusetts 01840.

(2)
Judge Peter C. Digangi, 36 Federal Street, Salem, Massachusetts 01970.

(3)
Judge Andre A. Gelinas, Massachusetts Appeals Court, John Adams Courthouse, One Pemberton Square, Boston, MA 02108.

(4)
Judge Elspeth B. Cypher, Massachusetts Appeals Court, John Adams Courthouse, One Pemberton Square, Boston, MA 02108.

(5)
Judge Joseph A. Trainor, Massachusetts Appeals Court, John Adams Courthouse, One Pemberton Square, Boston, MA 02108.

(6)
Attorney General Tom Reilly, Office of the Attorney General, One Ashburton Place, Boston, MA 02108.

Date: ______________



           ________________________








           Kevin M. Thompson, Plaintiff



